FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 10/17/2018 1:29 PM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

No. \_\_\_\_96424-6

COA No. 76825-5-I

### SUPREME COURT

### STATE OF WASHINGTON

### JOEL ZELLMER

### Petitioner,

v.

### KING COUNTY, ET AL.,

### Respondents,

SUPERIOR COURT No. 16-2-11607-8 KING COUNTY HONORABLE BARBARA LINDE

### PETITION FOR REVIEW

Andrew R. Corsberg Law Offices of AR Corsberg PLLC 35 West Main Avenue, Suite 300 Spokane, WA 99201 (509) 934-0033 Attorney for Petitioner

### **

### A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Joel Zellmer, petitioner below, hereby petitions for Supreme Court review of the Court of Appeals' decision identified in Section B, below.

### **B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION**

Petitioner Joel Zellmer ("Zellmer") seeks review of the unpublished opinion issued by the Court of Appeals for Division I in the case of *Joel Zellmer v. King County* (July 16, 2018) (Slip Opinion reprinted in Appendix) along with the Order Denying Motion to Reconsider (September 17, 2018) (Order reprinted in Appendix).

### C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

 ERROR BELOW: In a matter involving vital and substantial public interest, and because the appealed decision from the Court of Appeals conflicts with published decisions by both this Supreme Court and the Court of Appeals regarding strict application of the PRA's fees and costs provisions, the lower court erred by failing to award Zellmer, the prevailing party, his costs and fees incurred at the trial level as required by caselaw precedent interpreting RCW 42.56.550(4) (2017) (The Public Records Act or PRA).

ISSUE PRESENTED: In the event the appellate court elects, *sua sponte*, to supplant the trial court rather than reverse and remand, does an appellate court have adequate grounds to deny the PRA's mandatory

award of costs and fees incurred in connection with the prevailing party's legal action at the *trial* court level if a prevailing party fails to request an award of costs and fees pursuant to RAP 18.1(b)?

2. ERROR BELOW: In a matter involving vital and substantial public interest, and because the appealed decision from the Court of Appeals conflicts with published decisions by both this Supreme Court and the Court of Appeals regarding strict application of the PRA's fees and costs provisions, the lower court erred *by failing to award Zellmer, the prevailing party, his costs and fees incurred at the appellate level* as mandated by case law precedent interpreting the PRA and authorized by the Rules of Appellate Procedure.

ISSUE PRESENTED: In the event the appellate court, *sua sponte*, elects to supplant the trial court rather than reverse and remand, does an appellate court have adequate grounds to deny the PRA's mandatory award of costs and fees incurred in connection with the prevailing party's legal action at the *appellate* court level if a prevailing party fails to request an award of costs and fees pursuant to RAP 18.1(b)?

3. ERROR BELOW: In a matter involving substantial public interest, and because the appealed decision from the Court of Appeals conflicts with published decisions by both this Supreme Court and the Court of Appeals regarding agency bad faith under the PRA, the lower court erred by *not finding that the King County Prosecuting Attorney's Office (KCPAO) acted in bad faith*, despite the underlying spirit and purpose of the PRA promoting broad disclosure, virtually identical public disclosure requests, competent technical knowledge and experience by staff, no follow-up or clarification correspondence, claims of being "alerted to the possibility of missed records", and silently withholding responsive documents until Zellmer filed suit.

ISSUE PRESENTED: Does an agency's repeated failure to disclose and to silently withhold responsive public records amount bad faith under the PRA in the form of gross negligence or wanton disregard of potential liabilities for incomplete disclosure?

### **D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

### Factual Statement of the Case:

Petitioner Joel Zellmer was an inmate at Washington State Penitentiary in Walla Walla when he made the public disclosure requests (PDRs) at issue for "All photographs taken of the inside of the home". CP 2, 15, 28, 38 (January PDR), 59 (September PDR). KCPAO's Public Records Unit employs three individuals: the supervising Public Records Officer, a Public Records Specialist, and a Public Records Paralegal. CP 15, 29. Both the Public Records Specialist and Public Records Paralegal receive training, guidance, and supervision from the Public Records Officer. CP 15, 29, 55. KCPAO has a codified employee policy describing procedures for how employees are to handle and respond to PDRs. CP 121-42. That policy instructs, "Agencies must respond promptly and *provide assistance to requestors*," CP 133 (emphasis added), and claims, "All Executive Branch Departments will follow the procedures outlined in this policy." CP 135. Further, KCPAO employees are directed that when responding to PDRs, "If the request is unclear or does not sufficiently identify the requested records, request clarification from the requestor". CP 135. Additionally, the Public Records Officer, Kristie Johnson, explained KCPAO's policy of sending out installment letters while a search is ongoing "if [the Public Records Unit is] not a hundred percent sure [they] have gone down every single path", thereby providing ample time for KCPAO staff to "be absolutely sure [they] have searched everywhere [they] could possibly think of." CP 200-01.

Petitioner Joel Zellmer submitted two separate-yet-related PDRs to KCPAO, requesting photographs relating to a single December 2005 search by law enforcement of his home. *See* CP 15-16, 18, 30, 55. *See also* CP 59 (September PDR), 38 (January PDR), 222-23. Both of Zellmer's PDRs requested "photographs *taken of the inside of the home.*" CP 15, 18, 30, 38, 55, 59 (emphasis added). Zellmer's first (September) PDR requested and identified, in detail, photographs depicting "all rooms in the home as well [as] all of the other living areas within the inside of this home", language that KCPAO employees concede to be clear. CP 55, 59 (September PDR).

Zellmer did not identify these requested photographs by JPEG date. CP 223. *Compare* CP 59 (September PDR) *and* CP 38 (January PDR) *with* CP 218-220 (JPEG term not part of request, no confusion of request) *and* CP 210-13 (no confusion, no JPEG date). While processing each PDR, KCPAO never sent any follow-up correspondence or a clarification letter to Zellmer to discuss the existence of any undated photographs may have been responsive. CP 218-19. KCPAO produced 35 photographs in response to Zellmer's September 2015 PDR, then considered the response to be complete closed. CP 30, 34 (Dec. Close-Out), 197-199. Paralegal Nitura possessed knowledge that undisclosed hardcopy photographs existed, however no employee of KCPAO provided Zellmer no indication that any other photographs of "all rooms" existed. CP 34 (Dec. Close-Out), 46 (Mar. Close-Out), 55.

Zellmer's second request, the January 2016 PDR, essentially reiterated the request for records described in his September 2015 PDR, along with expanding the request to include "all photographs taken on December 7, 2005, of the inside of the home that was searched." CP 59 (September PDR), 38 (January PDR). Neither PDR uses the term "JPEG", but both PDRs describe the requested records with the terms "photographs", "all rooms", and "inside of the home". CP 59 (September PDR), 38 (January PDR). Upon receiving Zellmer's January 2016 PDR, KCPAO's Public Records Unit was alerted to the possibility of responsive records being omitted from KCPAO's response to Zellmer's September 2015 PDR. CP 30, 56. In response to Zellmer's January 2016 PDR, KCPAO Public Records Unit reviewed for a second time the contents of CDs for the JPEG dates, 12/6/05 and 12/7/05. CP 30. The Public Records Officer, however, possessed knowledge that digital file dates, such as JPEG dates, can change if a file is modified. CP 202. Despite possessing such technical knowledge, and the inability to determine whether the JPEG files were modified, cropped, or transferred, Public Records Officer Johnson and Paralegal Nitura relied on the JPEG dates as the ultimate factor to determine responsiveness. *Id.* Just like their processing of the September PDR, KCPAO's Public Records Unit did not consult with anyone outside the division when searching for records in response to Zellmer's January 2016 PDR. CP 212, 220. *See* CP 28-31, 54-57, 79-81 (describing the process followed in responding to Zellmer's PDRs).

Despite being on alert that still more photographs were sought depicting the interior of the home and the possibility of an omitted responsive record to the September PDR, KCPAO produced a mere 24 photographs in response to Zellmer's January 2016 PDR. CP 59 (September PDR); CP 56 ("we were alerted to the possibility that records responsive to the 2015 request had been missed"); CP 31 ("we were alerted to the possibility that records responsive to the 2015 request had been missed"); CP 38 (January PDR); CP 204 ("He's asking again").

KCPAO possessed almost three hundred photographs displaying the inside of Zellmer's home, *see* CP 83; however, rather than producing these hundreds of records, or even disclosing their existence, KCPAO responded to Zellmer's PDRs by producing 35 photographs, then 24 photographs, for an aggregate of 59 photographs. CP 46, 71; *see also* CP 17, 19. Those 59 photographs partially depicted a handful of home office settings—*only* home office settings. *See* CP 144-50. KCPAO did not produce any photographs depicting a kitchen, dining room, bedroom, or any other room typically present in a person's home, as contemplated by the PDRs' use of the descriptors "all rooms" and "living areas". *Id.* The Public Records Officer reviewed and signed each responsive letter sent to Zellmer indicating the response was complete and his request was closed. CP 17, 18, 31, 32, 34 (Dec. Close-Out), 46 (Mar. Close-Out).

In May 2016, Zellmer filed a lawsuit against KCPAO alleging a violation of the PRA. CP 109, 113-18, 223. Upon receiving Zellmer's lawsuit KCPAO re-reviewed the boxes of records accessible to KCPAO. CP 19, 81, 83. The employee, Public Records Specialist Meghan Moore, conducting this post-lawsuit review was the least experienced employee within the KCPAO's Public Records Unit. *Compare* CP 79-80 (Moore employed less than two years) *with* CP 29 (Johnson employed over five years) *and* CP 54 (Nitura employed for over five years). This post-lawsuit search by the less experienced Moore produced the original 59 photographs,

plus an additional batch of 235 previously undisclosed photographs, for a total of 294 photographs. CP 19, 81, 83, 223. This group of 294 photographs contains alternate angles of the same subject matter depicted in the originally produced 59 photographs. *Compare* CP 144-50 (Photo Exhibit A) *with* CP 152-84 (Photo Exhibit B). The 294 photographs discovered with the same limited search methods as the two previous searches: a review of CD contents. *Compare* CP 80 (describing Moore's search & production process) ("I identified 294 photographs that could be of the inside of the home" *with* CP 55-57 (describing Nitura's search & production process).

To date, KCPAO *still has not produced, nor even acknowledged the existence of any additional photographs* depicting other rooms and items within his home that was searched in December 2005, such as the contents of his gun safe, contents of various drawers in his offices, his daughter's room, various stacks of banker boxes labelled as "case files" and "attorney client-privilege".

### Procedural Posture of the Case:

Zellmer filed his complaint in King County Superior Court alleging that King County, through the actions of the Prosecuting Attorney's Office, violated the PRA. CP 1. KCPAO, on behalf of itself and King County, filed a Motion for Summary Judgment, which was granted by King County

Superior Court's Honorable Barbara Linde. CP 14-27. Zellmer appealed, seeking only the reversal of the superior court's decision to strike one of Zellmer's filings and the subsequent order granting summary judgment. The Court of Appeals reversed the trial court's striking of Zellmer's filing, reversed the order of summary judgment, then, sua sponte, held that the KCPAO violated the PRA and that Zellmer was the prevailing party. Zellmer v. King County, Slip Op. No. 76825-5-I (July 16, 2018). The Court of Appeals, however, declined to award any of the PRA's mandatory costs and fees to Zellmer because Zellmer failed to strictly adhere to the RAP 18.1 procedure for requesting attorney fees on appeal. Id. at 12 n. 7. Despite Zellmer pointing to case law precedent and procedural flexibility explicitly expressed within the RAPs in his Motion for Reconsideration, the Court of Appeals declined Zellmer's Motion. Order Denying Mot. to Reconsider (September 17, 2018). Consequently, and pursuant to RAPs 13.3 and 13.4, this appeal follows.

### **E. ARGUMENT**

# 1. The lower court erred by not awarding the prevailing party under the PRA his mandatory award of all costs and fees Zellmer incurred in connection to this legal action at the TRIAL level.

The first issue submitted to this Court for review is whether the lower court erred in failing to award Zellmer the costs and fees he incurred at the trial court level as the prevailing party.

The PRA states explicitly, "Any person who prevails against an agency in any action in the courts . . . shall be awarded all costs, including reasonable attorney fees, incurred in connection with such legal action." RCW 42.56.550(4) (2017) (emphasis added). This Court has consistently interpreted and strictly enforced this provision as a penalty intended by the legislature to encourage broad disclosure of records and to penalize agencies for wrongfully withholding such documents. See e.g. City of Lakewood v. Koenig, 182 Wn.2d 87, 90 (2014); Sargent v. Seattle Police *Dep't*, 179 Wn.2d 376, 382, 402 (2013); *Neighborhood Alliance of Spokane* County v. Spokane County, 172 Wn.2d 702, 728 (2011); O'Neill v. City of Shoreline, 170 Wn.2d 138, 152 (2010); Yousoufian v. Office of Ron Sims, King County Executive, 168 Wn.2d 444, 459 (2010); Spokane Research v. City of Spokane, 155 Wn.2d 89, 100-101 (2005); Concerned Ratepayers v. PUD No. 1, 138 Wn.2d 950, 964 (1999); Limstrom v. Ladenburg, 136 Wn.2d 595, 616 (1998); Amren v. City of Kalama, 131 Wn.2d 25, 35-36 (1997); Progressive Animal Welfare Soc'y v. Univ. of Wash., 125 Wn.2d 243, 272 (1994) (PAWS II) (citing Hearst Corp. v. Hoppe, 90 Wn.2d 123, 140 (1978)); Progressive Animal Welfare Soc'y v. Univ. of Wash., 114 Wn.2d 677, 686 (1990) (PAWS I). See also Lindberg v. Kitsap County, 133 Wn.2d 729, 748 (1997) (Durham, C.J. dissent). Accordingly, the Courts of Appeals have strictly enforced the PRA's costs and fees provisions in

accordance with Supreme Court jurisprudence. See e.g. Adams v. Dep't of Corr., 189 Wn. App. 925, 956 (2015); Francis v. Dep't of Corr., 178 Wn. App. 42, 68 (2013), review denied, 180 Wn.2d 1016 (2014); Dep't of Transp. V. Mendoza de Sugiyama, 182 An. App. 588, 605 (2014); Zink v. City of Mesa, 162 Wn. App. 688, 729 (2011); Beal v. City of Seattle, 150 Wn. App. 865, 877 (2009); King County v. Sheehan, 114 Wn. App. 325, 354 (2002); ACLU v. Blaine Sch. Dist. No 503, 95 Wn. App. 106, 111 (1999); Lindberg v. Kitsap County, 82 Wn. App. 566, 575 (1996).

In contrast to the PRA mandate, RAP 18.1(b) states, "A party must devote a section of its opening brief to the request for fees or expenses." RAP 18.1(b); *Gendler v. Batiste*, 174 Wn.2d 244, 264 (2012) (discussing the prevailing party's compliance with general rule of RAP 18.1(b) supporting an award of fees and costs on appeal). *But see* RAP 18.1(a) (states the general rule with contemplated exception); *and* RAP 18.1(i) (expenses and fees may be determined by trial court). Also, RAP 1.2(a) clearly and plainly states, "issues will not be determined on the basis of compliance or noncompliance with there rules". RAP 1.2(a).

Here, the lower court heard an appeal from an aggrieved requester seeking relief from an agency-favorable order of summary judgment. The appellate court agreed with Zellmer and reversed the lower court's rulings. Then the appellate court, on its own initiative, went beyond the relief requested and found that KCPAO violated the PRA and held Zellmer to be the prevailing party. However, rather than staying consistent with established caselaw and PRA jurisprudence, the lower court here broke PRA precedent by declining to award Zellmer, the prevailing party, his PRA mandated costs and fees incurred in connection with the legal action at the trial level. This not only conflicts with clearly established precedent, the lower court's decision completely undermines the purpose and spirit of the PRA as described by this Supreme Court, "dicourag[ing] improper denial of access to public records." Spokane Research, 155 Wn.2d at 101 (citing Amren, 131 Wn.2d at 35-36); Yousoufian, 168 Wn.2d at 459 ("the PRA penalty is designed to discourage improper denial of access to public records and [encourage] adherence to the goals and procedures dictated by the statute.") (internal citations and quotations omitted); PAWS I, 114 Wn.2d at 688 ("Attorneys' fees under our [PRA] are mandatory."). Additionally, it conflicts with the very rules with which the appellate court claims Zellmer failed to comply: the RAPs. The appellate court justified its denial of the statutorily mandated award because Zellmer's failure to strictly adhere to RAP 18.1 by omitting a section in his opening brief requesting an award of attorney fees and costs on appeal. Zellmer, Slip Op. at 12 n. 7.

These grounds are untenable and unreasonable for three reasons: (1) RAPs do not govern trial court proceedings, thus failing to adhere to RAP

18.1 is not adequate grounds to deny a prevailing party his PRA-mandated compensation; (2) RAP 1.2(a) specifically states that issues will not be determined based on noncompliance, thus deciding the issue of attorney fees based on noncompliance is unreasonable; and (3) established caselaw illustrates that awards to prevailing parties under the PRA are mandatory and strictly enforced in order to penalize agencies for wrongfully withholding public records and to promote broad disclosure, thus to decline to penalize a violating agency is in clear conflict with PRA precedent. Therefore, the lower appellate court's decision regarding Zellmer's attorney fees sits in direct conflict with its own prior decisions and this Supreme Court's decisions by letting a violating agency escape penalty while leaving the prevailing party with the bill. As a result, Zellmer requests that this Court reverse the lower court's decision denying all the costs and fees Zellmer incurred at the trial court level, and to hold that Zellmer, as the prevailing party under the PRA, shall be awarded his statutorily mandated fees and costs.

# 2. The lower court erred by not awarding the prevailing party under the PRA his mandatory award of all costs and fees Zellmer incurred in connection to this legal action at the APPELLATE level.

The second issue submitted to this Court for review is whether the lower court erred in failing to award Zellmer the costs and fees which he incurred at the appellate court level, the only legal action where he was the prevailing party.

The rule for awarding appellate costs and fees to prevailing parties is the same as above, with the additional layer of the Rules of Appellate Procedure. In most cases, RAP 18.1 governs the sole process of obtaining attorney fees and expenses on appeal whereby a party must devote a certain section in its opening brief requesting such costs and fees. RAP 18.1(b).

Exceptions to this rule, however, are contemplated by the rule itself and have been recognized by caselaw. *See* RAP 18.1(a) ("unless statute specifies that the request is to be directed to the trial court."); RAP 18.1(i) (appellate court may direct trial court to determine costs and fees on remand). *See also PAWS* II, 125 Wn.2d at 271 ("Attorney fees incurred on appeal are included."); *O'Neill*, 170 Wn.2d at 152 (when further fact finding necessary to determine extent of PRA violation, then remand to trial court); *Koenig*, 182 Wn.2d at 97-99 (attorney fees awarded to prevailing party and remanded to trial court to determine penalties); *Yousoufian*, 168 Wn.2d at 469 (prevailing party on appeal entitled to recover attorney fees and costs incurred on appeal); *Limstrom*, 136 Wn.2d at 616 (attorney fees to be awarded if trial court on remand determine documents were subject to disclosure); *and see O'Neill v. City of Shoreline*, 145 Wn. App. 913, 940 (2008) ("The trial court shall determine the amount of fees"). Further, the appellate court may waive or alter most RAP provisions "in order to serve the ends of justice". RAP 1.2(c); RAP 1.2(a) ("These rules will be liberally construed to promote justice"). *See also Nat'l Fed. of Retired Persons v. Insurance Comm'r*, 120 Wn.2d 101, 116-117 (1992) (appellate court may consider issue when nature of challenge is perfectly clear).

Here, the lower appellate court accelerated the adjudication process and correctly determined that a violation of the PRA occurred. However, instead of remanding to the lower court to further proceedings, such as determining the extent of the violation and whether additional documents were still being withheld, both requiring additional findings-of-fact, the lower court took the initiative to adjudicate the entire case in Zellmer's favor, then penalized him for not foreseeing such a proactive judicial determination by leaving him with the costs incurred in connection with his successful legal action. Such a decision conflicts with both the letter and spirit of the PRA, illustrative caselaw, and the RAPs by effectively penalizing the prevailing party while permitting a violating agency to escape penalty. This does not serve the ends of justice and was axiomatically unreasonable. Instead, the lower court should have either remanded to the trial court for additional proceedings in accordance with the appellate court's decision,<sup>1</sup> or it should have followed through and awarded the costs and fees Zellmer incurred in connection with the entire legal action in which he prevailed.<sup>2</sup> Notably, the only legal action where Zellmer prevailed was at the appellate level where the court, *sua sponte*, supplanted the trial court as adjudicator and ruled in favor of Zellmer as if it were the trial court. In such circumstances under the PRA with its statutory mandate, the application of RAP 18.1 should be through the lens of RAP 1.2 and should tend towards consistency with PRA precedent. In this context, justice requires an award to the prevailing party and a penalty to the violating agency. Therefore, Zellmer should be awarded all his costs and fees incurred in connection with that successful legal action. The substantive statutes and illustrative caselaw support such an award, as does the procedural flexibility structured within the RAPs.

Consequently, Zellmer respectfully requests that this Court reverse the lower appellate court and award Zellmer all his costs and fees, including those incurred on appeal. Zellmer also asks that this Court hold that in such rare cases where the appellate court chooses to go beyond the relief requested in the appeal and a requesting party prevails as result, then that

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> See e.g. Spokane Research, 155 Wn.2d 106; O'Neill, 170 Wn.2d at 154; Limstrom, 136 Wn.2d at 617; PAWS II, 125 Wn.2d at 272.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> See e.g. Yousoufian, 168 Wn.2d at 470; Sanders, 169 Wn.2d at 871; ACLU, 93 Wn. App. 120-21; Adams, 189 Wn. App. at 956.

prevailing party shall be automatically entitled to the attorney fees and costs incurred on appeal. Such a holding resolves the current question of law with a bright-line holding that reinforces the purpose of the PRA penalties against wrongful withholdings of records by public agencies. This holding would also provide appellate courts guidance if and when a court chooses, as it did here, to expedite the adjudication process in a manner that may deprive a prevailing party of the opportunity to seek complete statutory relief, as it did here.

### 3. KCPAO processing of Zellmer's PDRs amounts to bad faith because it acted in gross negligence by incompletely responding to Zellmer's September PDR, then acted wantonly in responding to Zellmer's January PDR.

The third issue submitted to this Court for review is whether the lower court erred in not finding that KCPAO responded to Zellmer's requests in a manner that amounts to bad faith under the PRA. This issue also provides this Court the opportunity to harmonize and synthesize the seemingly conflicting definitions of agency "bad faith" under the PRA.

Because Zellmer is an inmate-requester, the PRA requires a showing of agency bad faith before a court may award Zellmer the additional statutory per-diem penalties. RCW 42.56.565(1) (2011). Currently, the legal definition of bad faith appears to encompass a spectrum of unreasonable actions, from "gross negligence" at the low end, then "reckless behavior", followed by "wanton, willful behavior", and up to "intentional misconduct". See Livermore v. Northwest Airlines, 6 Wn.2d 1, 6 (1940) (indicating existence of "gross negligence as will amount to bad faith constructively"). See also Francis v. Dept. of Corr., 178 Wn. App. 42, 56-57 (2013) (quoting State ex rel. Fowler v. Steiner, 51 Wash. 239, 241 (1908)) (no intentional wrongful act but court finding bad faith when agency fails to follow its own policies); Faulkner v. Dep't of Corr., 183 Wn. App. 93, 103 (2014) ("bad faith incorporates a higher level of culpability than simple or casual negligence"), review denied, 182 Wn.2d 1004 (2015); Yousoufian v. Office of Ron Sims, 137 Wn. App. 69, 79 (2007); Benitez v. Skagit County, 2016 Wn. App. LEXIS 800, 22 (2016) (unpublished opinion)<sup>3</sup> ("Bad faith is more than mere negligence or a mistake, but it need not be intentional") (citing Faulkner, 183 Wn. App. at 102). Distinct unto themselves, each of these categories can be considered as various "degrees of bad faith". In the specific context of the PRA, however, the Court of Appeals appear to struggle in reaching a clear and consistent definition. Compare Faulkner, 183 Wn. App. at 103 (inmate must show wanton, willful agency action) with Francis, 178 Wn. App. at 51 (determination of bad faith under PRA does not require intentional, wrongful act). But see

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Cited as nonbinding persuasive authority pursuant to GR 14.1

Faulkner, 183 Wn. App. at 106 (describing legislative intent) ("the legislature allows penalties for inmates only when the conduct of the agency defeats the purpose of the PRA and deserves harsh punishment") (emphasis added). Francis contemplated the legislative intent of the PRA's underlying purpose in the context of inmate requesters, "to afford prisoners an effective records search, while insulating agencies from penalties so long as they did not act in bad faith." Francis, 178 Wn. App. at 60. The court's focus on the search for records, however, is relatively shortsighted considering the different phases of agency action where any one phase could be compromised by an employee's bad faith, thereby jeopardizing an agency's good faith response. See PAWS II, 125 Wn.2d at 269 ("agency's compliance with the [PRA] is only as reliable as the weakest link in the chain"); and see Sanders v. State, 169 Wn.2d 827, 839 (2010) (recognized distinction between an agency's search, disclosure, and production). Therefore, Zellmer requests that this Court clearly define agency bad faith under the PRA includes three distinct degrees: (1) intentional misconduct equals first degree; (2) wanton, willful conduct equals second degree; and (3) gross negligence equals third degree. This structured definition of bad faith his helpful for determining whether the statutory threshold has been met to award per-diem penalties to incarcerated requesters, and it is helpful for determining penalties in any PRA case in conjunction with the Yousoufian aggravating factors. Further, it should be held that a showing of agency bad faith at any one phase of the response process (search, disclosure, production) will support an award of per-diem penalties to the inmaterequester under RCW 42.56.565(1). Such a holding reconciles the conflicting lower court definitions of bad faith and provides a more structured guidance for lower courts in a manner that reinforces the ultimate purpose of the PRA.

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