FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
12/5/2018 1:31 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

NO. 96424-6

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

JOEL ZELLMER,

Appellant,

٧.

KING COUNTY,

Respondents.

RESPONDENTS' ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

DANIEL T. SATTERBERG King County Prosecuting Attorney

MARI K. ISAACSON Senior Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorneys for Appellant

King County Prosecuting Attorney W400 King County Courthouse 516 Third Avenue Seattle, Washington 98104 (206) 477-1120

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

III. ARGUMENT

A. Zellmer's Arguments for Attorney Fees Do Not Warrant Review.

The majority of Zellmer's petition focuses on the Court of Appeals' decision not to award him attorney fees. Neither of his arguments justify further review by this Court.

1. No case law conflict.

First, Zellmer erroneously asserts a case law conflict that does not exist regarding the Court of Appeals' application of well-established case law. Zellmer's attorney failed to comply with the

rules governing a demand for fees and he is now trying to fashion his mistake as one made by the Court of Appeals.

The PRA provides that a prevailing party to an action "shall be awarded all costs, including reasonable attorney fees, incurred in connection with such legal action." RCW 42.56.550(4).

However, Zellmer's petition ignores that the right to recover attorney fees in PRA suits must be effected through the procedural mechanisms in the Rules of Appellate Procedure.

Substantive law creates, defines, and regulates primary rights. *State v. Smith*, 84 Wn.2d 498, 501, 527 P.2d 674 (1974). In contrast, procedural rules involve the essentially mechanical operations of the courts by which substantive law, rights, and remedies are effectuated. *Putman v. Wenatchee Valley Med. Ctr.*, *P.S.*, 166 Wn.2d 974, 984, 216 P.3d 374 (2009).

"[T]he power to prescribe rules for procedure and practice" is an inherent power of the judicial branch that flows from article IV, section 1 of the Washington Constitution." *State v. Gresham*, 173 Wn.2d 405, 428-29, 269 P.3d 207 (2012). The legislature recognized the court's power in RCW 2.04.190 (rules of pleading, practice, and procedure generally) and RCW 2.04.200 (all laws in conflict with court rules shall be of no force or effect). *Id*.

RAP 18.1 sets forth the mechanical operations that a party must perform to recover attorney fees. In particular, RAP 18.1(a) states

If applicable law grants to a party the right to recover reasonable attorney fees or expenses on review before either the Court of Appeals or Supreme Court, the party must request the fees or expenses as provided in this rule, unless a statute specifies that the request is to be directed to the trial court. (emphasis added).

Further, a "party must devote a section of its opening brief to the request for the fees or expenses" and "[t]he request should not be made in the cost bill." RAP 18.1(b).

When amendments to RAP 18.1 were proposed in 1990, they were accompanied by the following relevant drafter's comment:

Section (b) retains the requirement that a section of the brief is to be devoted to the request for fees or expenses; again the operative word is strengthened from "should" to "must." The amendment also adds a provision for requesting fees and expenses in a motion on the merits.

3 KARL B. TEGLAND, WASHINGTON PRACTICE: RULES PRACTICE: RAP 18.1, at 9-10 (8th ed. 2018) (quoting Drafter's Comment, 1990 Amendments).

The language of RAP 18.1 is compulsory and it is well settled that failure to comply with the rule's procedural requirements

results in the denial of attorney fees. See Gardner v. First Heritage Bank, 175 Wn. App. 650, 677, 303 P.3d 1065 (2013)(in a foreclosure proceeding, merely stating that if the party "prevails on appeal, it is entitled to additional attorney fees and costs under RAP 18.1" in the conclusion of a party's response brief does not comply with RAP 18.1); Osborne v. Seymour, 164 Wn. App. 820, 866, 265 P.3d 917 (2011)(in a claim under 42 U.S.C. §1983, compliance with the requirements of RAP 18.1(b) is mandatory); *Thweatt v. Hommel*, 67 Wn. App. 135, 148, 834 P.2d 1058 (1992) (in a dispute between a creditor and debtor, "RAP 18.1(b) requires more than a bald request for attorney fees on appeal."); Blueberry Place Homeowners Ass'n v. Northward Homes, Inc., 126 Wn. App. 352, 363 n.12, 110 P.3d 1145 (2005) (in a construction defect dispute involving equitable indemnity, a request for fees "on same grounds as below" was insufficient); Dep't of Labor & Indus. of State v. Kaiser Aluminum & Chem. Corp., 111 Wn. App. 771, 788, 48 P.3d 324, 333 (2002) (in a suit against employee's former employer no fees were awarded where a party referenced RAP 18.1 but did not explain grounds for an award of fees).

Contrary to Zellmer's contention, this Court's precedents apply the requirements in RAP 18.1 in the context of the PRA. In *Gendler v. Batiste*, 174 Wn.2d 244, 274 P.3d 346 (2012), this Court held that the State Patrol improperly withheld records in response to Gendler's PRA request. 174 Wn.2d at 264-65. The opinion notes "[t]o be awarded attorney fees or expenses on review before this court, the party must make the request in its opening brief" under RAP 18.1(b). *Id.* at 264. Since Gendler "specifically requested his attorney fees and costs in his opening brief at the Court of Appeals," he was awarded reasonable attorney fees and costs. *Id.*

In contrast, Zellmer's opening brief did not devote a section to recovery of attorney fees or costs as required by RAP 18.1.

Rather, in the conclusion he asked the appellate court to "reverse the lower court's order of summary judgment, and to provide any other relief this Court deems just and equitable under these circumstances." Opening Brief at 37. Contrary to Zellmer's contention that the Court of Appeals "on its own initiative, went beyond the relief requested," in his opening brief Zellmer's expressly made an open-ended request for "any" relief that the appellate court found appropriate. Petition at 11-12.

By its terms, RAP 18.1(i) gives appellate courts discretion to direct the trial court to determine fees and expenses ("The appellate court may direct that the amount of fees and expenses be determined by the trial court after remand.") In his brief, Zellmer acknowledges that the PRA is not among the statutes that directs a request for fees to the trial court, yet throughout his petition Zellmer argues that he was improperly denied an opportunity to ask the trial court for fees. Petition for Review at 14.

Moreover, in a case deciding criteria for awarding attorney fees under RCW 42.17, the former public disclosure act, this Court held:

We may either remand for such a determination or ourselves determine the fees without remand. PAWS' attorney has submitted the required affidavits as well as time sheets to support its request for attorneys' fees on appeal and has otherwise complied with RAP 18.1.

Progressive Animal Welfare Soc. v. Univ. of Washington, 114
Wn.2d 677, 690, 790 P.2d 604 (1990). There is no support for the claim that an appellate court does not have authority to decide an award of fees, without remand, if the court determines that no further information is necessary. Zellmer's contention amounts to a disagreement with the court of appeals' ruling, but this bare assertion does not create a case law conflict. In any event, Zellmer

would not recover the vast majority of the fees he incurred in this case due to the PAO's CR 68 offer.

Despite his best efforts to identify an error by the appellate court, the court faithfully applied precedent and the RAPs in reaching its decision. Zellmer's attorney caused the result of which he now complains, not the court. Zellmer's claim that the appellate court's decision violates longstanding case law is misleading and does not warrant review.

2. No substantial public interest.

Second, Zellmer incorrectly asserts that the Court of Appeals' decision not awarding him attorney fees involves an issue of substantial public interest. The court declining to grant an award applies solely to Zellmer as an individual under this particular set of facts. Far from a matter of vital public interest, the court's decision was a result of the unique circumstances in this case and the error of Zellmer's counsel. Simply stated, an attorney's failure to adhere to the rules of appellate procedure is neither an error that should be attributed to a reviewing court nor a matter of vital and substantial public interest.

B. Review of Zellmer's Bad Faith Argument is Not Warranted.

The PAO conducted a thorough search for photographs of the inside of the home, and provided all of the photographs which were labeled with a date of December 6 or 7, 2005. CP 80, 274-75. None of the 235 photographs provided after the lawsuit was filed had dates that matched Zellmer's request. CP 274-75, 277-78, 280-81. Further, the PAO had previously sent the 235 photographs at issue to Zellmer's former attorney, Nancy Collins, in response to a prior PRA request from Zellmer. CP 78, 80-81, 274.

There is neither a conflict in case law nor a substantial public interest justifying review of the appellate court's finding of no bad faith. Without any evidentiary support, Zellmer falsely asserts that the PAO is still withholding records responsive to his PRA requests. Petition for Review at 8, 15. His arguments regarding the appellate court's finding of no bad faith amount to a factual disagreement with the appellate court's application of PRA case law. Indeed, in the body of his brief Zellmer does not explain how the PAO acted in bad faith and he does not include any citation to the record to support his assertion of bad faith. Review of this issue is likewise not warranted.

IV. **CONCLUSION**

The Court of Appeals' decision is in accordance with this Court's precedents and does not implicate a substantial public interest. Therefore, no further action should be taken on this case. The PAO respectfully requests that Zellmer's request for further review be denied.